CASE NO. 65,821

FEB 13 1985 CLEINK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Orrk

(Cir. No.83-7088 CF 10)(DCA Case No. 84-1525)

JOHN MAREK,

Defendant/Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BRUCE H. LITTLE, ESQUIRE Attorney for Appellant 625 N.E. 3rd Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33304 (305) 525-8330 Dade 940-0505/Palm Beach 737-2633

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 6, 1983, the Defendant was indicted by a Broward County Grand Jury after his arrest on June 17, 1983. The Indictment (R. 1358) charged the crimes of Murder (First Degree); Kidnapping; Burglary; Sexual Battery; and Aiding and Abetting a Sexual Battery. After a lengthly pretrial preparation, the case was tried to a jury, which returned a verdict on June 1, 1984. The jury found the Defendant guilty of First Degree Murder (R. 1438); guilty of Kidnapping (R. 1439); guilty of the lesser included offense of Attempted Burglary (R. 1440); guilty of the lesser included offense of Battery (R. 1441); and guilty of a second lesser included offense of Battery (R. 1442).

On June 5, 1984, 10 members of the jury recommended the Court impose the death penalty (R. 1453). Based upon this recommendation, the Court rendered a written sentence (R. 1468) imposing the death penalty on the Defendant, among other sentences. Timely post trial motions were filed and this appeal follows.

-1-

STATEMENT OF FACTS

It should be initially pointed out that the facts of this case are substantially in dispute. The State of Florida presented evidence to prove certain facts, and the Defendant testified as to a different scenario from his viewpoint. The facts as presented by the State of Florida will be presented on a witness by witness basis.

The first witness called by the State was a Jerome Kasper who worked as a lifeguard for the City of Dania (R. 447). On June 7, 1983, he reported to work to a lifeguard shack in the City of Dania. He had also been the last lifeguard to leave the previous evening (R. 461). When he arrived at the shed at approximately 7:15 a.m. (R. 465), he observed a "drag mark" in the sand which was alleged made by a trash can (R. 467). He found the trash can next to the shack. Additionally, he found the victim's blue and white "tee" shirt by the men's bathroom nearby (R. 470). When he found the victim in the shack he also found a pair of socks next to the body (R. 474), with "burn holes" in them (R. 475).

The next witness was Robert John Haarer, a deputy sheriff in the forensic unit (R. 480). He had also found the trash can that left the drag mark, and also an aluminum ladder leading to the roof of the shack (R. 487). The victim's blue and white "tee" shirt was found by him in the trash can (R. 489), where it had been deposited by Kasper (R. 470). He observed the victim, Ms. Simmons, lying on the floor of the shack, on her back, with a half inch white cotton rope over portions of her body (R. 494). The deputy also took a photograph showing the pubic area of the victim with singed hairs (R. 496). Although the Court agreed he couldn't tell there was singeing (R. 497), he allowed the deputy to testify that he felt the singeing was consistent with being burned by a lighter (R. 499). Additional photographs were taken, depicting a pair of white cotton shorts found on the floor (R. 500), and a red bandanna tied around the victim's neck (R. 501). Finally, he testified that he did not feel the victim's body had been naked prior to being in

-2-

the shack R. 534).

Next the State called George Neal Hambleton, a patrol sergeant with Daytona Beach Shores (R. 548). On June 17, 1983, he stopped Raymond Dewayne Wigley driving a pickup truck in Daytona Beach Shores (R. 549). He seized the vehicle and "sealed it" (R. 555). He also fingerprinted Raymond Dewayne Wigley (R. 556) and the Defendant (R. 557). He added that when he stopped the vehicle, the Defendant was not in it (R. 559).

Michael Rafferty was called as the person who "processed" the truck. He took photographs of the ashtray of the truck (R. 564) which contained a gold earring which was taken into evidence (R. 565). Within the storage console of the truck he found a gold watch, a gold necklace pendant and another gold earring (R. 566).

Another police officer with the City of Daytona Beach Shores by the name of Robert Francis Schafer was called (R. 607). He was present when Wigley was taken into custody (R. 608). He also came in contact with the Defendant late in the evening of June 17, 1983, (R. 607). This happened about one half hour after Wigley's arrest and approximately one and one half miles away (R. 608). When the officer took the Defendant into custody from the Daytona Beach Police Department, the Defendant asked why he was being arrested (R. 609). The Defendant denied knowing a "Wigley" (R. 611 - 612), and advised he had been hitchhiking (R. 612).

Gary Ayers, another sheriff's deputy, testified that he lifted 18 prints off the lifeguard shack on Dania Beach (R. 623).

Sandra Yonkman testified as a latent fingerprint examiner for the Broward Sheriff's Office (R. 632). Of all the prints submitted to her by Detective Haarer, she identified one as Wigley's (R. 639). She found six that matched the Defendant (R. 651).

Another police officer with the City of Dania by the name of Dennis Charles Satink testified that he came into contact with Wigley and the Defendant on Dania Beach (R. 669). He stayed in contact with them for about 40 minutes (R. 670).

-3-

During that time Wigley appeared intoxicated and laughed (R. 671 - 672). The Defendant did not appear intoxicated (R. 673). The truck that the two of them were driving was parked approximately 100 yards from the lifeguard shack (R. 676). While the officer was talking to both of them, he was suspicious of Wigley (R. 681), and Wigley was nontalkative (R. 684). On the other hand, Marek didn't cause him any concern and seemed friendly and outward (R. 681). After obtaining their names and addresses, Wigley and Marek were allowed to go.

The State next called Jean Trach (R. 693). She had been traveling with the victim prior to her death, and last saw her on June 16, 1983 (R. 695). They had been traveling south on the Florida Turnpike when their car broke down at mile marker 83 (R. 695). When they pulled to the side of the road, a truck pulled off behind them (R. 702). She saw two men in the truck, one of which she identified as the Defendant (R. 703). She was in contact with them for 40 - 45 minutes (R. 708). The Defendant tried to fix their car and then offered to give them a ride when this couldn't be done (R. 709). Ms. Simmons then made the decision that she would go get help (R. 711) and drove off with Wigley and Marek (R. 722). Ms. Trach also identified the jewelry found in the truck as belonging to the victim (R. 718).

The State's last witness was Dr. Ronald Keith Wright, the medical examiner in Broward County. It was his opinion that the victim died at approximately 3 to 3:30 in the morning of the 17th of June, 1983 (R. 753). He found a large amount of sand stuck to the skin over her back, lower back and down to her buttocks, and that sand not being present in the shack itself (R. 754). It was further his opinion that by ligature the victim died of manual strangulation (R. 759). An abrasion was found on the victim's breast consistent with a head mark (R. 767).

With regard to the sexual intercourse aspect of the case, the doctor found spermatazoa in the victim's body (R. 776). It was his opinion that the spermatazoa was present less than 24 hours in her (R. 777). On cross-examination, he testified

۰.

-4-

that if sexual intercourse had taken place in the shack, that you would expect to find some seminal fluid either on the exterior of the vagina or on the floor right beneath her (R. 786). The spermatozoa had been found in the cervix, and there were only three in number (R. 796). In the normal ejaculation there are several million (R. 796). The doctor added that there was no evidence to indicate that sexual intercourse took place in the lifeguard shack (R. 798 - 799). Additionally, the fact that he found spermatozoa with "tails" would mean that it could be up to 3 days old (R. 800 - 801). And if such old spermatozoa was found, it would be found in the cervix (R. 801). In fact, the doctor had no opinion as to when the victim last had sexual intercourse (R. 808).

On redirect examination, the doctor testified that he felt that the victim was alive when she entered in the shack (R. 815). Also when he did pubic hair combings he didn't notice any hair that was different than other hairs (R. 818).

The Defense opened its case with Vincent James Thompson, who was a firefighter with the City of Dania (R. 874). He was present when the police confronted Wigley and the Defendant. He saw a large amount of beer in the back of the truck (R. 876), and both Wigley and the Defendant appeared to be "loaded" (R. 879). Looking back he felt Wigley was probably nervous, but the Defendant didn't appear to be (R. 888).

Officer Rickmeyer with the City of Dania testified that there were approximately 10 cases of beer in the back of the truck when he saw it (R. 891). Also, he testified that Ms. Trach didn't see Wigley on the turnpike (R. 893), but he had gotten out of the truck (R. 895).

Officer Robert Darby with the City of Dania also testified that Wigley appeared nervous on the beach (R. 903).

George T. Duncan, a forensic serologist with the Broward County Sheriff's Department crime laboratory (R. 910) testified that he did a cervical swab of the victim and was unable to find any spermatozoa (R. 916).

٦

-5-

Finally, the Defendant took the stand to testify. He stated that he and "Ray" left Texas to come to Florida, and he was drinking two to four cases of beer a day (R. 940). While driving south on the highway he noticed the car in front was losing speed and put its flashers on, so he pulled over directly behind it (R. 942). He was driving at the time. He then went to the driver's side window and spoke to the driver. Due to the darkness he pulled the truck around to the front of the disabled vehicle and tried to fix what was wrong (R. 949). Unable to fix it, he offered to take the females to a service station (R. 945). Ms. Simmons volunteered to go, so the Defendant got in the passenger's side of the truck (R. 947) with Ms. Simmons in the middle and "Ray" driving. The Defendant fell asleep (R. 947) and when he woke up later, Ms. Simmons was gone. He asked Ray if he had dropped her off and he said yes (R. 948). The Defendant went back to sleep (R. 949) and when he next woke up he was at the beach (R. 949). He grabbed another beer and went to look for Ray (R. 950). After screaming for Ray, he found him up in the lifeguard shack (R. 950). The Defendant got up on top of a trash can, grabbed one of the railings and swung himself up to meet Ray (R. 951). Once he got in the shack, he noticed the police arrived (R. 952). It was pitch black inside (R. 956). After getting out of the shack they were confronted by the officers (R. 959). The officers, after about 30 to 40 minutes, told the Defendant to drive and leave the area (R. 962). He was subsequently arrested in Daytona.

-6-

ISSUES ON APPEAL

Point I

THE COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING JOHN MAREK TO DEATH FOR FIRST DEGREE MURDER, WHEN IT HAD PREVIOUSLY SENTENCED RAYMOND WIGLEY TO LIFE IN PRISON FOR THE SAME OFFENSE; THAT BEING A DENIAL OF JOHN MAREK'S RIGHTS UNDER THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS.

Point II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL WHEN THE STATE OF FLORIDA ELICITED TESTIMONY CONCERNING A FIREARM FOUND IN THE TRUCK, WHERE SUCH TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE WAS IRRELEVANT AND UNCONNECTED TO THE CASE AND HIGHLY INFLAMMATORY.

Point III

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY THE ENTIRE JURY PANEL, WHERE THE PANEL HAD BEEN EXPOSED TO A JURY ORIENTATION VIDEO WHICH PORTRAYED CRIMINAL DEFENDANTS IN A FALSE AND DISFAVORABLE LIGHT AND DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL, A FAIR TRIAL AND MADE UNFAIR COMMENT ON HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

Point IV

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO ALL COUNTS IN THE INDICTMENT, DUE TO LACK OF EVIDENCE.

Point V

THE COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING THE DEATH SENTENCE DUE TO THE LACK OF SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE, OR AGGRAVATING FACTORS, TO WARRANT IMPOSI-TION OF SUCH SENTENCE, IN VIOLATION OF DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

Point VI

THE COURT'S SENTENCE TO DEATH BY ELECTROCUTION AMOUNTS TO CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITU-TION.

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING JOHN MAREK TO DEATH FOR FIRST DEGREE MURDER, WHEN IT HAD PREVIOUSLY SENTENCED RAYMOND WIGLEY TO LIFE IN PRISON FOR THE SAME OFFENSE; THAT BEING A DENIAL OF JOHN MAREK'S RIGHTS UNDER THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS.

The co-defendants in this case were charged with the same offenses in the same indictment. By Motion, Appellant has requested that this Court supplement the Record herein, to include the "Judgment and Sentence" of Raymond Dewayne Wigley, as rendered on May 29, 1984, Case No. 83-7088 CF B, Circuit Court of Broward County, Florida. Both Defendants were tried separately, before the same Court.

Raymond Dewayne Wigley was convicted by a jury of:

- (a) Count I: Murder in the First Degree;
- (b) Count II: Kidnapping;
- (c) Count III: Burglary; and
- (d) Count IV: Sexual Battery with great force.

He was sentenced:

- (a) As to Count I: Murder in the First Degree, to a term of life imprisonment with a mandatory twenty-five years without parole.
- (b) A total of 107 years in prison for the remaining counts.

In its sentence, the Court specifically found that Wigley had been previously convicted of criminal acts, to wit: Burglary for which he had been previously incarcerated.

Appellant, John Richard Marek, was convicted by a jury of:

- (a) Count I: Murder in the First Degree;
- (b) Count II: Kidnapping;
- (c) Count III: Attempted Burglary with Assault;
- (d) Count IV: simple Battery; and
- (e) Count V: simple Battery.

-8-

He was sentenced:

•

(a) As to Count I: Murder in the First Degree, to death.

(b) A total of 39 years in prison for the remaining counts.

In sentencing Appellant, the Court issued a nine (9) page opinion (R. 1468 - 1476). In the opinion, the Court reiterated its understanding of the facts. Many of the "facts" are nothing more than mere presumptions and not supported by any evidence. For instance, the Court found that "the victim was forced from the truck" (R. 1469). There was no evidence of this. The Court also presumes; "It is clear from the evidence that the victim was not a willing participant in the abduction, battery or the attempted burglary leading up to the murder" (R. 1469). We know Ms. Simmons voluntarily got in the truck. There is no evidence of when any abduction occurred. Additionally, there was no evidence that Ms. Simmons did, or did not participate in the attempted burglary. Contrary to the Court's prior opinion (R. 497), it found at the time of sentencing that "her pubic hair was burned" (R. 1469). The Court alludes to Wigley's confession for the basis that he and Appellant repeatedly raped Ms. Simmons both in the truck and in the tower (R. 1471). This is most certainly inconsistent with the facts proved at trial and casts serious doubt on the varicity of Wigley's confession. Dr. Wright couldn't even state that Ms. Simmons was raped in the tower, aside from the question as to whether she was even raped at all. There is also conflicting evidence as to whether Marek "controlled and dominated the discussion with the police" (R. 1469). The Court also specifically found that Wigley confessed, but could not use his confession. In all, it appears the Court was trying very hard to support its subsequent sentence of death for Appellant's participation in the murder.

Notwithstanding the Court's obvious feelings there is one finding that stands out above all:

"The evidence indicates that <u>both</u> men <u>acted in concert</u> from beginning to end." (R. 1471; emphasis supplied)

-9-

With this in mind, the disparate sentencing of these two persons who "acted in concert" cannot stand.

The Court was previously convinced that identical crimes committed by people with similar criminal histories require identical sentences. <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed. 2d 346 (1972), <u>Meeks v. State</u>, 339 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1976). It is this uniformity and predictability of result which Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, seeks to accomplish. <u>Meeks</u>, at 192. This Court has also previously said; " 'Equal Justice Under Law' is carved over the doorway to the United States Supreme Court Building in Washington." It would have a hollow ring in the halls of that building if the sentences in (these) cases were not equalized. <u>Barclay v.</u> State, 343 So.2d. 1266, 1271 (Fla. 1977).

Similarily, in <u>Malloy v. State</u>, 382 So.2d. 1190 (Fla. 1979), we find a jury having recommended life and the Court imposing the death sentence. (In the case <u>sub judice</u> the jury recommended death.) Malloy had been attending a party with two co-defendants. The three of them went to the apartment of the victim. While there, the three perpetrators abducted two victims and took property from the apartment. According to the testimony of the co-defendants, Malloy subsequently shot both victims in the head. This Court found that it was reasonable to conclude that <u>all</u> participants were equally culpable. All were charged with murder, but the codefendants were allowed to plead to a lesser charge and received prison terms in exchange for their testimony. Although the Court's ruling specifically found that the imposition of the death sentence is not always dependent upon the sentences of accomplices, <u>it is a factor</u>, <u>id</u> at 1193, that may be considered along with evidence of complicity.

Similar facts were found in <u>Slater v. State</u>, 316 So.2d. 539 (Fla. 1975) which lead the way on the subject. This Court said; "We pride ourselves in a system of justice that requires equality before the law. Defendants should not be treated differently upon the same or similar facts." id at 542. It is precisely this issue

٦.

-10-

that "hinges" the question of constitutional infirmity.

Nowhere in its sentence, or advisory instructions to the jury, is Wigley's sentence mentioned. If it clearly is a "factor", it should be mentioned and brought out. This is especially important in light of the fact that Wigley was convicted of greater crimes and received a heftier sentence than did Appellant. But yet, the jury and Court found its way to sentence Marek to death. It is precisely this disparity that constitutionaly should be prohibited as cruel and unusual punishment; unequal treatment; and arbitrary imposition of a death sentence.

Point II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL WHEN THE STATE OF FLORIDA ELICITED TESTIMONY CONCERNING A FIREARM FOUND IN THE TRUCK, WHERE SUCH TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE WAS IRRELEVANT AND UNCONNECTED TO THE CASE AND HIGHLY INFLAMMATORY.

On February 24, 1984, Defendant/Appellant filed a Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence, asking the Court to suppress certain items including a "pistol found in the 1983 Ford pickup truck" (R. 1385). A hearing was held on the Motion on April 10, 1984, and the Court reserved ruling (R. 1392).

George Neal Hambleton was called to testify in his capacity as a patrol sergeant with the City of Daytona Beach Shores (R. 548). He was the officer that stopped Wigley driving the pickup truck (R. 550). During his examination, he was asked;

- Q. Did you notice anything unusual inside the truck? Particularily, I want to direct your attention to the passenger side glove compartment?
- A. A .25 auto, small, little chrome gun. (R. 550)

Defense counsel objected as to relevance, and moved to strike the testimony. The jury was removed and the point was argued (R. 551 - 554). During that time the prosecutor admitted that he was not aware of any connection between the firearm and the Defendant. The Court then "sustained" Defendant's objection (R. 553). Defense counsel then moved for a mistrial because of the inflammatory nature of the evidence. The Court denied the motion, but offered to make a cautionary instruction to the jury. Upon the jury returning, the Court instructed them:

> "Ladies and gentlemen, before I sent you out there was an indication by the witness that he found some type of a gun or firearm in this car and after discussion with counsel, there is no evidence that I can see that would make that item relevant to this case, so at this point I would like you to do the best you can to forget it. In fact, I'll instruct you to forget that there was a firearm in that particular vehicle. It has no bearing on this case at this point and just disregard it. (R. 554)

> > -12-

This instruction did not go far enough. The Court was aware of the existence of the firearm through the Motion to Suppress. The prosecutor was aware that there was absolutely no nexus between the Defendant and the firearm. It was brought up merely from the standpoint of inflamming the jury.

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