IN THE SUPRRME COURT OF FLORIDA

F		I			D
	SI) J.	٧	VHITI	=

MAY 10 1985

CLERK, SI	UPREMI	E CO	JRT.
By_Chief	Deputy	Clerk	

JOHN MAREK,)		
Appellant,)		
vs.)	CASE NO.	65,821
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
Appellee.))		
			

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CAROLYN V. McCANN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

	PAGE
TABLE OF CITATIONS	i ii - vi
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	ĺ
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	2 - 3
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	4 - 18
POINTS INVOLVED ON APPEAL	19
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	20 - 21
ARGUMENT	
POINT I	22 - 26

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I. The evidence adduced at trial clearly supports Appellant's sentence of death. The evidence clearly established that the Appellant was the dominant actor in the criminal episode where witness testimony showed Appellant to be the leader and as being dominant over co-defendant Raymond Wigley.

POINT II. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion for mistrial since the curative instruction given to the jury, to which defense counsel agreed, was entirely appropriate and was clearly sufficient to dissipate any prejudicial effects of the witness' testimony.

POINT III. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion to disqualify the jury panel since there was nothing contained in the audio/visual presentation which could have even remotely affected the jury and their ability to return a fair verdict.

POINT IV. Appellee maintains that the evidence adduced at trial clearly supports the jury's verdicts. The evidence against Appellant was substantial and competent and support his convictions as to all counts of the indictment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT (Continued)

POINT V. The trial court correctly sentenced Appellant to death where there were no mitigating factors and four aggravating factors and where the jury recommended death.

POINT VI. Death by electrocution does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY SENTENCED APPEL-LANT TO DEATH FOR MURDER IN THE FIRST DE-GREE WHERE IT WAS CLEARLY ESTABLISHED BY THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL THAT APPEL-LANT WAS THE DOMINANT ACTOR IN THE CRIMINAL EPISODE.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in sentencing him to death for first degree murder, where his co-defendant, Raymond Wigley, was sentenced to life in prison for the same crime. Appellant contends that the disparity in the sentences imposed is unconstitutional. Appellee maintains however, that the sentence imposed upon Appellant by the trial court was clearly supported by the evidence adduced at trial.

The evidence presented at trial clearly established that the Appellant, John Marek, was the dominant actor in the criminal episode. Appellant, not Wigley, was driving the pickup truck when he and Wigley followed the victim's car off of the turnpike (R 942). Appellant, not Wigley, immediately got out of the truck and offered the women assistance (R 707). Raymond Wigley did not even get out of the truck until approximately one-half hour after Appellant followed the women's car off of the road (R 709). Jean Trach, the victim's travelling companion, testified that Appellant specifically told the women that he would take only one of them to a telephone to call for help (R 709). Trach testified that Appellant did all of the talking and that Wigley didn't say a word (R 709). testified that Appellant, after spending forty-five (45) minutes with the women, finally persuaded the victim to ride with him for help (R 708-711). Trach testified that she saw the victim, Adella Simmons, for the last time at approximately 11:30 P.M., June 16, 1983, when the victim got in the truck and sat between Appellant and

Wigley (R 723).

Officer Dennis Satnick testified that he came into contact with Appellant and Wigley on Dania beach at approximately 3:30 A.M., on June 17, 1983 (R 660-661). Satnick testified that he was patrolling the beach, which was closed to the public at that time of morning, when he came across a pickup truck parked on the beach approximately one-hundred (100) yards from the lifeguard stand (R 661-663, 676). Satnick testified that after unsuccessfully trying to locate the truck's occupants on the beach he finally noticed two people coming from the area of the lifeguard stand walking towards the pickup truck (R 665, 667). The men identified themselves as John Marek, Appellant and Raymond Wigley (R 669). Satnick conversed with Appellant and Wigley for approximately forty (40) minutes and testified that Appellant was the more dominant of the two (R 671). He further testified that every time Wigley would attempt to speak, Appellant would interrupt and prevent him from speaking (R 670). Appellant told Satnick that he was at the beach to meet with some college kids whom he went to college with (R 1026-1027). When Satnick asked Appellant what college he went to, Appellant did not answer (R 1027). Satnick testified that Appellant told some jokes and was very friendly and that Wigley "didn't say much" (R 681). Satnick testified that during the conversation, Wigley wouldn't make eye contact (R 681). Satnick testified that in his opinion, Wigley was intoxicated (R 672). Satnick testified that Appellant did not appear to be intoxicated and in fact dominated the conversation (R 671, 675). Appellant never gave Wigley a chance to speak (R 682). Satnick testified

that after this encounter was over, Appellant, not Wigley, drove the pickup truck away from the beach (R 676).

Officer Robert Darby testified that he had been present during the conversation Appellant and Wigley had with police on Dania beach (R 893). Darby testified that while Appellant was telling jokes, Wigley was looking at Appellant with disbelief (R 904-905). Darby testified that Wigley seemed nervous and didn't say anything during the conversation but instead stood with his head down (R 902-903).

Vincent Thompson, a City of Dania firefighter, who had been present during the conversation on Dania beach testified that during Appellant's conversation with police, Appellant was very friendly and told several jokes (R 877). Wigley, however did not speak at all and seemed very withdrawn (R 879). Thompson testified that Appellant controlled the tempo of the conversation with police and appeared to be the more "predominant" of the two (R 882). Thompson testified that Wigley appeared to be nervous and that Appellant did not (R 888).

Appellant, himself, even testified that he, not Wigley did all of the talking after he followed the women's car off of the turnpike (R 942, 972).

Detective Rickmeyer testified that when he told Appellant, "congratulations, you made it to the big time . . ." Appellant responded, "Oh, shit, the SOB told all" (R 1019).

Further testimony established that although both Appellant's and Wigley's fingerprints were found on the exterior point of entry to the observation deck (R 636-642), only Appellant's fingerprints were found inside of the observation deck (R 645).

Appellee maintains that the evidence adduced at trial revealed that the Appellant was the dominant actor in the criminal episode. Numerous witnesses at trial des cribed Appellant as being dominant over Wigley. Appellant, not Wigley, drove the pickup truck when they followed the women off of the road and it was Appellant, not Wigley who initiated the conversation with the women and offered to take only one of them to telephone for help. Additionally, it was Appellant who set the tone and tempo of the conversation he and Wigley had with the police on Dania beach. Further, Appellant's statement to Detective Rickmeyer "oh, shit, the SOB told all" also reveals Appellant as being the stronger of the two. By every single witnesses'account, Appellant was friendly, talkative and a leader, and Wigley withdrawn, nervous and a follower. ly, Appellant was the instigator of the criminal episode and its dominant actor. Appellant's role in the crime was vastly different from that of Wigley's as the jury so found.

The fact that another jury sitting before the same trial judge, sentenced Appellant's co-defendant, Raymond Wigley, to life in prison for his role in Adella Simmons' murder, is proof positive that the roles each defendant played in the relevant events were certainly different. Contrary to Appellant's assertion that the trial court was "trying very hard" to support its sentence of death, the evidence adduced at trial clearly supports Appellant's death sentence and shows that not only did Appellant and Wigley act in concert from beginning to end, but that Appellant was the dominant actor in the criminal episode. See Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d

745 (Fla. 1978); <u>Tafero v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1981).

Appellee would further point out that the cases of <u>Slater v. State</u>, 316 So.2d 539 (Fla. 1975) and <u>Malloy v. State</u>, 382 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1979), which Appellant cites in support of his position that his sentence of death was unfairly imposed, are readily distinguishable from the case at bar. This Court reduced the defendant's sentence of death in <u>Slater v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, because the trial court overrode the jury's recommendation of life and imposed a sentence of death on a defendant who clearly was not the triggerman in a robbery-murder. Likewise, in <u>Malloy v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, this court reversed a sentence of death where the trial court overrode a jury's recommendation of life where there was conflicting evidence as to whom the triggerman was in the murder. Appellee therefore maintains that neither <u>Slater v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, nor Malloy v. State, supra, are applicable to the instant case.

Appellant to death for the first degree murder of Adella Simmons. This Court on numerous occasions has affirmed a sentence of death for one defendant even when another has gotten a life sentence for his participation in the same criminal episode, where as here, it has been shown that the defendant was the dominating force behind the criminal acts. Tafero v. State, supra; Jackson v. State, 366 So.2d 752 (Fla. 1978); Witt v. State, 342 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1977). Thus, Appellant's domination having been clearly established at trial, his sentence of death was appropriately imposed by the trial court.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL.

Florida case law clearly states that a motion for declaration of mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982);

Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 746 (Fla. 1978). Further, it is a long-established rule that the power to declare a mistrial and discharge a jury should be exercised with great care and caution and should be done only in cases of absolute necessity. Salvatore v. State, supra, Smith v. State, 365 So.2d 405 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

The standard of prejudice which must be met by the defendant in order to obtain a new trial varies adversely with the degree to which the conduct of the trial has violated fundamental notions of fairness. Salvatore v. State, supra.

See also Kyle v. United States, 297 F.2d 507 (2d Cir. 1961), cert. denied 377 U.S. 909, 84 S.Ct. 1170. It should not be presumed that if error did occur it injuriously affected the substantial rights of the defendant. Salvatore v. State, supra.

In the instant case, the following transpired during the direct examination of state's witness, Officer George Hambleton:

- Q Did you notice anything unusual inside the truck? Particularly, I want to direct your attention to the passenger side glove compartment?
- A A .25 auto, small, little chrome gun.
- Q What did you do with the weapon?
- A I left it there.
- Q What did you do with the remaining contents of the truck:

MR. MOLDOF: I object to that testimony. Move to have it stricken. I think it has no

relevance to this case whatsoever. I move to have that testimony stricken.

(R 550).

Thereafter, the trial court after hearing the arguments of counsel outside of the presence of the jury, sustained defense counsel's objection (R 550-552). Defense counsel then moved for a mistrial (R 553). The trial court denied the motion for mistrial but asked defense counsel, "do you wish me to make any type of comment to the jury to tell them that they are to disregard that?" (R 553). Defense counsel responded, "exactly" and the following curative instruction was given to the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen, before I sent you out there was indication by the witness that he found some type of a gun or firearm in this car and after discussion with counsel there is no evidence that I can see that would make that item relevant to this case, so at this point I would like you to do the best you can to forget it. In fact, I'll instruct you to forget that there was a firearm in that particular vehicle. It has no bearing on this case at this point and just disregard it.

(R 554).

Appellee maintains the witness' testimony was not of such a prejudicial nature that the trial court's instruction to the jury to "forget" the testimony would not have cured any prejudice. Appellant argues, now for the first time on appeal, that the trial court's curative instruction "did not go far enough" (AB 13). Appellee maintains however, and defense counsel apparently agreed, that the curative instruction given by the trial court was entirely appropriate and was clearly sufficient to dissipate any prejudicial effects of the witness' testimony. Jennings v. State, 453 So.2d

1109 (Fla. 1984); Rivers v. State, 226 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1969); Harvey v. State, 176 So. 439 (Fla. 1937); Morales v. State, 431 So.2d 648 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); Stewart v. State, 221 So.2d 155 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969). The trial court's instruction was full and prompt, and sufficiently firm that the jury "forget that there was a firearm" (R 550). Williams v. State, 327 So.2d 798 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). Clearly, this curative instruction eradicated from the minds of the jury not only the offending testimony itself, but the imputations and inferences which might be drawn therefrom. Stewart v. State, supra. It is assumed that juries will follow the trial court's instructions. McGee v. State, 304 So.2d 142 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974). This Court must give great weight to the fact that the trial court after a lengthy discussion with counsel, believed that he had succeeded in erasing any prejudice from the minds of the jury. Grant v. State, 171 So.2d 361 (Fla. 1965); James v. State, 334 So.2d 83 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

Appellee would further submit that even if the trial court's instruction did not go as "far" as Appellant would have liked it to go, any error ingiving this instruction was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt as adduced at trial. Therefore, pursuant to §924.33 Fla.Stat.(1983), no error was committed by the trial court, and the court did not abuse it's discretion herein. State v. Woodson, 330 So.2d 152 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). The trial court's ruling, in denying appellant's motion for mistrial, comes to this reviewing Court with a presumption of correctness. See DeConingh v. State, 433 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1983).

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY THE JURY PANEL.

Appellant complains that the trial court erred in denying his motion to disqualify the jury panel. Appellant essentially argues that he was denied a fair and impartial jury because the members of his jury viewed an audio/visual presentation which allegedly contained misstatements of the law. Appellee maintains however, that the trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion since there was nothing contained in the presentation which could have even remotely affected the jury and their ability to return a fair verdict.

In the instant case, the members of the jury were shown as part of their orientation process, an audio/visual presentation entitled "You, The Juror" (See Supplemental Record). This presentation is shown to all prospective jurors who may serve on a jury in Broward County, Florida. This presentation is designed to explain to the prospective jurors, their role in a courtroom.

The presentation opens with the narrator explaining the concept of trial by jury. The prospective jurors are then told by the narrator that jurors perform a vital, civic duty. The narrator then explains such things as voir dire, pre-emptory challenges and challenges for cause, opening statements, evidence, closing arugments, jury deliberations and rendering a verdict. The presentation ends with the Battle Hymm of the Republic being played.

Appellant first complains that the narrator's comment,
". . . persons who may have some knowledge of the facts pertaining

to either a civil or criminal case may be called upon by either of the attorneys to testify under oath as witnesses," constitutes a comment on silence. This argument is without merit for two reasons. First, in order for a comment to be considered a comment on silence, a defendant must first invoke the right to remain silent. Donovan v. State, 417 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1982). In the instant case Appellant himself took the witness stand and testified on his own behalf (R 934-978). Clearly, Appellant did not invoke his right to remain silent. True, the narrator's comment can in no way be considered a comment on silence. Second, the narrator's comment is a correct statement of the law; witnesses may be called to testify by either side contrary to Appellant's argument otherwise.

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